
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

                                                                             

ROSENBAUM & ASSOCIATES, P.C.   :     JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

1818 Market Street, Suite 3200, Phila., PA 19103  : 

        : 

 vs.       : 

        :  

MORGAN & MORGAN a/k/a MORGAN &    : 

MORGAN, PA      :     Civil Action No. 2:17-cv-04250 

20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801 :  

and        : 

MORGAN & MORGAN GLOBAL, PLLC   : 

20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801 : 

and        : 

JOHN B. MORGAN      : 

20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801 : 

and        : 

SCOTT W. WEINSTEIN      : 

20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801 : 

and        : 

ULTIMA MORGAN      : 

20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801 : 

and        : 

REUVEN MOSKOWITZ     : 

20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801 : 

 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

THE PARTIES 

 

1. Plaintiff Rosenbaum & Associates, P.C. (“Plaintiff”), is a corporation with a 

principal place of business 1818 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19103. 

2. Defendant Morgan & Morgan a/k/a Morgan & Morgan, PA (“Morgan PA”), is a 

law firm with its principal place of business in Orlando, Florida at 20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 

1600, Orlando, FL 32801. 

3. Defendant Morgan & Morgan Global PLLC (“Morgan Global”), is the Florida 

professional limited liability company that owns and controls the Morgan Trademarks and is 
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affiliated with Morgan PA as well as Morgan & Morgan Philadelphia, PLLC (“Morgan 

Philadelphia”), with its principal place of business in Orlando, Florida at 20 North Orange Avenue, 

Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801. Morgan Philadelphia is a corporate shell and an accounting artifice 

that Defendants have operated as an agent for and on behalf of Defendants.1 (Morgan PA and 

Morgan Global shall be referred to hereinafter as the “Morgan Defendants” whereas Morgan PA, 

Morgan Global and Morgan Philadelphia shall be referred to hereinafter as the “Morgan Entities”). 

4. Defendant John B. Morgan (“John Morgan”) is an owner, shareholder, partner, 

officer, and/or manager of or in the Morgan Entities, with his principal place of business in 

Orlando, Florida at 20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801. 

5. Defendant Scott W. Weinstein (“Weinstein”) is an owner, shareholder, partner, 

officer, and/or manager of or in the Morgan Entities, with his principal place of business in 

Orlando, Florida at 20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801. 

6. Defendant Ultima Morgan (“Ultima Morgan”) is an owner, shareholder, partner, 

officer, and/or manager of or in the Morgan Entities, with her principal place of business in 

Orlando, Florida at 20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801. 

7. Defendant Reuven Moskowitz (“Moskowitz”) is an owner, shareholder, partner, 

officer, and/or manager of or in the Morgan Entities, with his principal place of business in 

Orlando, Florida at 20 North Orange Avenue, Suite 1600, Orlando, FL 32801. 

8. At all times relevant hereto, the individual Defendants were acting as the agents, 

servants and/or employees within the course and scope of their employment, with the Morgan Entities 

                                                 
1 Morgan Philadelphia has no demonstrated specific legal or transactional activity related to Defendants’ wrongful 

activities as set forth in detail herein. Any activities that Morgan Philadelphia performed in the Philadelphia Market 

or related to the False Advertisements (as defined herein), if any at all, was done at all times as the authorized agent 

for Defendants, for which Defendants remain liable. 
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and the doctrine of respondeat superior is invoked herein—in addition to, and not to the exclusion of, 

their individual liability for their wrongdoing as alleged herein. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

9. The amount in controversy exclusive of interest and costs exceeds the sum or value 

of $75,000.00. 

10. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, in 

that the claims arise under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq. This Court has pendent 

jurisdiction over the state law claims that arise under the laws of Pennsylvania pursuant to the 

principles of supplemental jurisdiction set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants Morgan PA, Morgan 

Global, John Morgan, Scott Weinstein, Ultima Morgan and Reuven Moskowitz (collectively, 

“Defendants”), as they conduct business in this district and have disseminated false advertising in 

and through the Philadelphia Market. 

12. The “Philadelphia Market” shall mean the designated geographic market for 

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, including the following state counties: (i) Berks, Bucks, Chester, 

Delaware, Lehigh, Montgomery, Northampton and Philadelphia, PA; (ii) Atlantic, Burlington, 

Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Mercer and Salem Counties, NJ; and (iii) Kent and 

New Castle Counties, DE. 

13. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b)(1) and (c), because the 

Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants. Venue is also proper in this jurisdiction pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because events or omissions giving rise to these claims occurred in this 

District. Further, Defendants have solicited business in this District, falsely advertised in this 

District, and engaged in unfair competition and common law fraudulent misrepresentation in this 
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District. Defendants have also committed the offending acts by advertising on the internet and 

television stations and using deceptive practices on the internet and television stations, which is 

used and viewed by residents of this District.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The Morgan Entities, Other Defendants And Their False Advertisements 

14. Morgan Global is parent entity that owns and controls, among other entities, 

Morgan PA and Morgan Philadelphia. 

15. Morgan Global’s managers are identified by its state filings as being John Morgan 

and Scott Weinstein. (Exh. A). 

16. Morgan Global owns and controls the trademarks and “Morgan & Morgan” and 

“For the People” (the “Morgan Trademarks”). (Exhs. B & C). 

17. The Morgan Trademarks are used ubiquitously in the False Advertisements (as 

defined below) that are viewed by consumers throughout the Philadelphia Market. 

18. Morgan Global knowingly allows Defendants to use, or directs Defendants to use, 

the Morgan Trademarks in a manner that Morgan Global knows to be false, misleading, deceptive 

and/or ambiguous. 

19. Morgan PA is a law firm which holds itself out as providing legal services to 

individuals in need of legal representation.  

20. Morgan PA has offices in several states throughout the county and its principal 

office is located in Orlando, Florida. 

21. Morgan PA has denied that it has an office in Pennsylvania, though that is 

specifically refuted by Morgan PA’s extensive lease agreement communications with Morgan 

PA’s landlord. (Exh. D). 

Case 2:17-cv-04250-MAK   Document 57   Filed 03/07/18   Page 4 of 33



   

5 

22. Specifically, in Defendants’ answer to Plaintiff's amended complaint (Doc. No. 50 

at ¶15) (“By way of clarification, Morgan & Morgan PA only has offices in Florida”) and in 

Defendants’ Interrogatory Responses (Exh. E, at Int. #1; Exh. F, at 1), Defendants assert that 

Morgan PA does not have an office in Philadelphia.  If in fact, Morgan PA does not have an office 

in Philadelphia, then Morgan Billboards (as defined below) which state, “OFFICES 

PHILADELPHIA,” and the Morgan Website (as defined below) and the Morgan Webpages (as 

defined below) are all literally false. 

23. Upon information and belief, Morgan PA is the owner of the Morgan phone number 

1-800-MORGAN LAW as listed on the advertisements (“Morgan Phone Number”). 

24. Morgan PA is owner of the domain website https://www.forthepeople.com 

(“Morgan Website”). (Exh. G).  

25. As alleged in further detail below, the Morgan Website represents to the world at 

large that Morgan PA has an office located in Philadelphia. 

26. Defendants provide legal services to people who suffer various types of personal 

injuries. 

27. Personal injury means an injury to a person (both physical and/or mental) or death 

as a result of another person(s) or companies negligent, careless, reckless and or intentional 

conduct. For purposes of this complaint, personal injury excludes mass tort claims, workman’s 

compensation claims, disability claims and discrimination claims. 

28. In particular, Defendants represent individuals seeking monetary compensation for 

personal injury matters involving bodily injuries sustained as a result of another person and/or 

company’s negligent/wrongful conduct. 
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29. Defendants create and run advertisements (in the nature of, without limitation, 

television commercials, billboard advertisements, internet marketing and branded website pages) 

(the “False Advertisements”) that appear in and/or on media outlets in the Philadelphia Market. 

30. Through the False Advertisements, which are set forth in greater detail below, 

Defendants actively solicited and still solicit potential personal injury clients, secured and still 

secured business and collected and still collects fees from out-of-state clients, including clients 

who reside in New Jersey and Delaware. 

31. The types of legal services that Defendants provide involve claims against 

corporations and insurance companies that utilize defense counsel with offices throughout the 

country, and that further implicate national federal aid programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. 

32. The business activities of Defendants that are set forth herein and are the subject of 

this Second Amended Complaint substantially affect interstate commerce and use communications 

in interstate commerce including the United States mail. 

33. At some time in December 2015, Defendants began falsely advertising their legal 

services in the Philadelphia Market. 

34. The majority of the False Advertisements used by Defendants relate to their 

purported intent and ability to provide legal services in matters involving personal injury to 

prospective clients (the “Prospective Clients”). Prospective Clients shall mean those consumers in 

the Philadelphia Market who view the False Advertisements who have claims that may be brought 

or venued in Pennsylvania state and federal courts. 

35.  The False Advertisements featured and still feature Defendants John Morgan and 

Ultima Morgan, as well as others, including without limitation, Matt Morgan, Dan Morgan, and/or 

Mike Morgan. 
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36. The False Advertisements extensively use the Morgan Trademarks and encourages 

and otherwise directed viewing Prospective Clients to the Morgan Website and Morgan Phone 

Number. 

37. None of the individual Defendants are members of the Pennsylvania bar and they 

are not licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania. 

38. At the time that Defendants began to advertise falsely in the Philadelphia Market, 

Defendants did not have any attorneys employed by any of the Morgan Entities who were regularly 

working in a Pennsylvania office handling personal injury matters. 

39. Subsequently, in January 2017, after Defendants began and were still falsely 

advertising in the Philadelphia Market, Morgan PA hired Jacob Sternberger (“Sternberger”) as its 

lone attorney in Philadelphia. 

40. According to the Morgan Website, Sternberger was the only Morgan PA attorney 

located and resident in the Philadelphia office as of August 1, 2017. 

41. According to the Pennsylvania disciplinary board website, Sternberger was 

admitted to the Pennsylvania bar on October 18, 2016. 

42. As of the filing of this Second Amended Complaint, Sternberger has little or no 

experience in representing clients in and otherwise handling personal injury matters. 

43. Based upon discovery provided to date, the “office” wherein Sternberger goes to 

each day is an office in name only inasmuch as Defendants have not used this office to meet with 

Prospective Clients or otherwise practice law. Instead, the purpose of this office is only to 

perpetuate the charade that Defendants are handling personal injury claims for clients in the 

Philadelphia Market. 

44. Defendants’ have no other attorneys regularly working in a Philadelphia office. 
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45. Sternberger has not represented any personal injury clients in a matter venued in 

the Philadelphia Market in a Pennsylvania state or federal court. 

46. Defendants first began advertising in the Philadelphia Market in late December 

2015, and not yet filed one lawsuit on behalf of a personal injury claimant venued in a Pennsylvania 

court. 

47. To be certain, Defendants have identified one personal injury case venued in a 

Pennsylvania Court in Philadelphia County in which Defendants have entered their appearance, 

but that specific matter is being handled by a lawyer in Mississippi and primary local counsel is 

the Philadelphia law firm Saltz Mongeluzzi. 

48. Defendants’ entry of appearance in that case was a sham and meant only to refute 

the allegations of this litigation that Defendants are falsely advertising. 

49. Defendants’ False Advertisements did, and continues to, mislead Prospective 

Clients in the Philadelphia Market into believing that Defendants actively litigated and still litigate 

personal injury claims in Pennsylvania on behalf of their clients when in fact Defendants did not, 

do not and did not otherwise intend to represent any Prospective Clients and, if any, then a de 

minimis, negligible or nominal number of Prospective Clients, regarding their personal injury 

claims. 

50. Many, if not all, of the False Advertisements created by and run on behalf of 

Defendants were and continue to be false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous. 

51. Defendants advertising campaign in the Philadelphia Market is false in that they do 

not and did not intend to represent any Prospective Clients for their personal injury claims in the 

Philadelphia Market. 
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52. The False Advertising by Defendants in the Philadelphia Market has a tendency to 

deceive a substantial portion, if not all, of their intended Prospective Clients. 

53. The False Advertisements lead the Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market 

to believe that John Morgan, Ultima Morgan and the Morgan Defendants will be personally 

involved in litigating and handling their personal injury claim. 

54. The False Advertisements led and still lead the Prospective Clients in the 

Philadelphia Market to believe that John Morgan and the Morgan Defendants will handle their 

claim and they will not simply be referred to another non-Morgan lawyer or law firm. 

55. In fact, as of the date of the filing of this Second Amended Complaint, upon 

information and belief, Defendants refer all or substantially all of the Prospective Clients who 

contact Defendants as a result of the False Advertisements in the Philadelphia Market to other 

attorneys and firms who do not work for and are not otherwise owned or controlled by Defendants. 

56. In fact, Morgan PA utilizes its own standardized referral agreement to engage upon 

a wholesale referral arrangement with several Philadelphia Market attorneys and law firms (the 

“Referral Law Firms”), whereby Morgan PA secures its referral fee from those Referral Firms who 

are receiving the Prospective Client referrals. (Exh. H). 

57. Common to each of the referral agreements are the explicit conditions that the 

Referral Law Firm (referred to as the Partner Firm or “PF” in the agreements) “shall bear the 

responsibility for the financial costs of prosecuting and litigating every case that is accepted” and 

further “agrees to be solely responsible for communicating with client in a timely and effective 

manner.” Id. 

58. As of August 1, 2017, the False Advertisements did not advise the Prospective 

Client that his or her personal injury claims would be referred to a Referral Law Firm. 
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False Advertisements As Television Commercials 

59. Since December 2015, Defendants have aired nearly 200 different television 

advertisements at various times and on various days in the Philadelphia Market. See Exh. I.2 

60. The cost of placing those television commercials in the Philadelphia Market 

exceeds $10 million dollars. 

61. These False Advertisements have extolled Defendants’ personal services as 

personal injury lawyers yet they do not provide the services they advertise, are incapable of 

performing the services (without permission by the court) and never had the intention to perform 

such services. 

62. The purpose of Defendants’ significant advertising budget is to undermine the 

competition by overwhelming the Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market with false and 

misleading information. 

63. Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market were in fact misled and/or deceived 

by the Defendants’ False Advertisements in the form of television commercials. 

64. Some of the False Advertisements included John Morgan wherein he asserted, “I’m 

not just any lawyer, I’m your lawyer.” (Exh. I at Bates Nos. R&A 33 [John], 34 [John], 70 

[John], 91 [John], 201 [John], 242 [John]). 

65. These statements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous. 

                                                 
2 Attached as Exh. I is a spreadsheet listing each of the television commercials that has aired on various television 

stations in the Philadelphia Market since late December 2015, including the speaker identified and a transcription of 

the verbal statements being made by the speaker in the television commercial, with each television commercial 

receiving a separate Bates Number. This spreadsheet is in lieu of the actual videos of these commercials which can be 

produced upon request and which are in the possession of Defendants. References herein to those False 

Advertisements by their respective Bates Number (as set forth on this spreadsheet) is meant to be representative only 

and not exhaustive of the use of the offensive false, deceptive, misleading and ambiguous statements. Plaintiff reserves 

the right to demonstrate that such falsities exist in other advertisements publicly displayed in print, television, radio, 

internet, or other by Defendants through the same or other media outlets in the Philadelphia Market. 

Case 2:17-cv-04250-MAK   Document 57   Filed 03/07/18   Page 10 of 33



   

11 

66. Other False Advertisements included Ultima Morgan, John Morgan and other 

Morgan family members who stated, “We’re all here for you.” (Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 71 [John], 

73 [John], 95 [Ultima], 96 [Ultima], 98, 99, 125, 161 and 169). 

67. These statements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous. 

68. Other False Advertisements involving these same persons stated, “Our family is 

here for your family.” (Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 68 [Ultima], 95 [Ultima], 96 [Ultima], 120 

[Ultima], 125, 161, 172 [Ultima], 173 [Ultima], 236 [Ultima], 237 [Ultima] and 238 [Ultima]). 

69. There are in addition similar False Advertisements wherein Ultima Morgan tells 

the Prospective Client, “Or call me, our family helping yours.” (Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 66 

[Ultima], 125, 161, 172 [Ultima] and 173 [Ultima]). 

70. These statements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous. 

71. Another of Defendants’ advertisements who included John Morgan, Ultima 

Morgan and other family members stated, “You don’t pay us unless we’re successful.” (Id. at 

Bates Nos. R&A 5 [John], 35 [John], 36 [John], 37 [John], 38 [John], 162 [John] and 183). 

72. This statement is false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous. 

73. In many of the False Advertisements John Morgan describes himself to the 

Prospective Client as a trial lawyer with over thirty (30) years of experience. (Id. at Bates Nos. 

R&A 77, 78, 79, 116, 235). 

74. The False Advertisements also provide other personal information about and/or 

characteristics of Mr. Morgan which were included in order to convey to Prospective Clients that 

Mr. Morgan and the Morgan Defendants would be handling the Prospective Clients’ personal 

injury claims. 
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75. The False Advertisements that feature John Morgan or Ultima Morgan fails to 

advise and/or educate the Prospective Client that neither John Morgan nor Ultima Morgan, the 

attorney speaking in the respective advertisement, is licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania. 

76. The False Advertisements that feature John Morgan and/or Ultima Morgan fail to 

advise and/or educate the Prospective Client that neither John Morgan nor Ultima Morgan, the 

attorney speaking in the respective advertisement, is capable (without explicit permission from the 

Court) of legally representing and did not otherwise intend to not represent Prospective Clients in 

personal injury matters in Pennsylvania. 

77. Both John Morgan and Ultima Morgan, as co-founders of the Morgan Defendants 

are liable for these false statements, because they spoke the words seen in the television 

commercials and, as such senior executives within Morgan PA, they authorized the television 

commercials with their respective statements. 

78. The following statements, inclusive of those above, are similarly false, misleading, 

deceptive and/or ambiguous (and, where noted, are attributable to John Morgan or Ultima 

Morgan): 

a. “And you never owe us legal fees unless we’re successful. It’s our way 

of leveling the playing field.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 5 [John]. 

 

b. “If you’ve been injured in an accident, hurt on the job or are the victim 

of medical malpractice, you only owe us a fee if we win at trial or are 

able to obtain a fair settlement for you … Your initial office visit with 

us is absolutely free … my family has represented you and your families 

for almost 30 years now … Today we are honored to help you when you 

need us most.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 54, 55 & 56.3 

 

c. “Morgan & Morgan is a family business, and we are in the business of 

helping you when an accident devastates your life. … This is what we’ve 

done for almost 30 years now. We understand your financial needs and 

obligations and how the loss of income or unpaid medical bills can be 

                                                 
3 Each of these three (3) television commercials include a variation of this transcription that is only slightly different 

than the other two. 
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overwhelming. Our family is here for your family.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 

68 [Ultima]. 

 

d. “For almost 30 years, we’ve had the opportunity to help you at one of 

your most desperate hours…Our job is to make sure that your justice 

compensates you for your pain and suffering and protects your family 

for the rest of your life. Remember, I’m not just a lawyer, I’m your 

lawyer.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 70 [John]. 

 

e. “You’ve trusted us to try and get you justice for you and your family at 

a most difficult time.  … We’re here for you.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 71 

[John]. 

 

f. “For almost 30 years … If you ever need us, we’re here for you. And 

remember, together, we travel this journey to justice.” Id. at Bates No. 

R&A 73 [John]. 

 

g. “At Morgan & Morgan, we help to level the playing field with our 

business litigation group. … Use our financial strength to take on these 

business bullies. No recovery, no fee. You don’t have to be rich to be 

right.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 82 [John]. 

 

h. “When you need my help at your time of need, call me, I’m the people’s 

lawyer. And remember, I’m not just a lawyer, I’m your lawyer.” Id. at 

Bates No. R&A 91 [John]. 

 

i. “Our goal is to earn your trust every day. Our family is always here for 

your family.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 95 [Ultima], 96 [Ultima]. 

 

j. “If you ever need our help because of an injury or an insurance dispute, 

we are here 24/7.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 97 [Ultima]. 

 

k. “As we fight the good fight. We’re all here for you.” Id. at Bates No. 

R&A 98. 

 

l. “The work we do is not a job to us. It’s our mission.  It’s our cause. 

Your worry is our worry. We are here for you.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 

99. 

 

m. “I believe in providing access to the courts for all people by never 

charging you one penny unless we win your case.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 

111. 

 

n. “Let us investigate this issue for you.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 118, 119. 
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o. “The Client comes first. We realize that when you hire us that is a 

powerful trust and that you are the boss. We don’t take your 

representation for granted. And every day we will work hard to never 

break that trust. Our family is always here for your family.” Id. at Bates 

Nos. R&A 120 [Ultima]. 

 

p. “When our children were growing up, we had a saying ... One for all 

and all for one … When you trust us at your time of need, please know 

you hire all of us. All for one, and that one is you.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 

121 [Ultima]. 

 

q. “At Morgan & Morgan, we work quickly to make sure your family’s 

protected. The law firm you hire will have a direct impact on your 

future. Don’t gamble with that future. Hire a firm you know and trust. 

Our results speak for themselves.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 125. 

 

r. “For almost 30 years, we have been here at your hour of need … This 

work is what we do. It’s not a job to us. It’s our mission. It’s our cause. 

Your problems are our problems. And your worries are our worries.” 

Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 126. 

 

s. “All law firms not the same … if your claim has been rejected, call us. 

If you’ve heard “no,” we may say “yes.” A different set of eyes may give 

your claim a very different result. Let us help.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 

128, 129. 

 

t. “At Morgan & Morgan, we have a saying … “Justice never sleeps” … 

that means, when you need us ... We’re here. Anytime, including right 

now, this weekend.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 141, 142. 

 

u. “But at the core, this is a family business. Our family watching out for 

your family. Call us or email us 24 hours a day 7 days a week. … And, 

if you ever have a problem, call our mom. She’ll fix it.  Morgan & 

Morgan for the people and your family.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 161. 

 

v. “Denied a job, harassed, paid less or even fired … Our team of 

employment lawyers fights to recover compensation for discriminated 

employees. You don’t owe us a fee unless we’re successful for you.” Id. 

at Bates No. R&A 162 [John]. 

 

w. “Sometimes you need an enforcer to fight for your rights. That’s where 

we come in. When the powerful need to be reminded that you too have 

rights.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 169. 
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x. “As a mother and grandmother, I know what goes into running a 

household. Let our family help your family.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 172 

[Ultima], 173 [Ultima]. 

 

y. “You don’t owe us a fee unless we’re successful for you.” Id. at Bates No. 

R&A 183. 

 

z. “Our job is to make sure that your medical bills, loss of income and the 

benefits available to you are paid immediately so that you and your 

family are taken care of.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 195, 196. 

 

aa. “When you call us for help, we answer. Even at 3 o’clock in the 

morning. Try it. Justice never sleeps.” Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 145, 146. 

 

bb. “We can help.”  Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 176, 177.  
 

79. The above television advertisements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or 

ambiguous since Defendants had no intention of representing the Prospective Clients in the 

Philadelphia Market for the services offered in the False Advertisements. 

80. The above television advertisements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or 

ambiguous in that a substantial number of the Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market were 

led to, and continue to, believe that the attorney in the False Advertisement would be involved in 

the handling of their personal injury claim. 

81. The above television advertisements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or 

ambiguous in that a substantial number of Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market were led 

to, and continue to, believe that their personal injury claim would be handled by a Morgan PA 

attorney located and working in Pennsylvania. 

82. Nearly, if not all, of the television commercials encouraged the Prospective Client 

to contact Defendants either by accessing the Morgan Website or calling the Morgan Phone 

Numbers, and for each television commercial is branded by the Morgan Trademarks that are 

owned and licensed by Morgan Global. 
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83. In addition, Defendants made an explicit representation in a television commercial 

that Defendants would not refer a case to a Referral Law Firm like other lawyers. 

84. Specifically, the television commercial stated that “Cars, seat belts, tires and 

airbags do not always protect you as they should and may even cause injuries. With the safety 

equipment available to car makers today, we believe that nobody should be hurt or killed in 

a car crash. The problem is that many lawyers don’t handle or can’t afford to take on these 

big car companies. Instead they may send your case to another attorney, losing valuable time 

and evidence. Not us. Don’t wait. Call us today to learn more.” Id. at Bates No. R&A 174 

(underline emphasis supplied). 

85. These statements are false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous. 

86. Similarly, many of Defendants earlier television commercials included a disclaimer 

in full capital letters that Defendants were “NOT A REFERRAL SERVICE.” Id. at Bates Nos. 

R&A 1-10, 13, 15, 17, 19, 22, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 38-41, 43, 46, 48, 51, 54-55, 57, 60, 63, 66-

74, 77, 80-87, 89, 91-92, 95- 97-101, 103, 105, 107, 109, 111-113, 115-117, 120-128, 130, 132, 

134 and 242.  

87. This false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous statement was made in the 

following disclaimer (the “Anapol Disclaimer”) included for only a couple of seconds in small 

print font at the bottom of the television commercial: 

ATTORNEY ADVERTISEMENT – NOT A REFERRAL SERVICE 

 

Before making your choice of an attorney you should give this matter careful thought. 

The selection of an attorney is an important decision. Although some advertisements 

indicate that no fee shall be charged in the absence of recovery, clients may be liable 

for certain expenses. The law firm responsible for this ad with Morgan and Morgan is 

Anapol Weiss. Offices: One Logan Square, 130 N. 18th Street, Suite 1600, 

Philadelphia, PA 19103 
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88. Defendants’ statement that they were “NOT A REFERRAL SERVICE” was 

false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous creating a confusion for the Prospective Client 

because, to the contrary, Defendants intended to and in fact did refer all Prospective Clients to 

Referral Law Firms. 

89. At some point during their false advertising campaign, Defendants changed the 

disclaimer to remove reference to the law firm of Anapol Weiss. 

90. Specifically, Defendants’ new disclaimer (the “No Referral Disclaimer”) read as 

follows:  

ATTORNEY ADVERTISEMENT – NOT A REFERRAL SERVICE. 

 

Before making your choice of an attorney, you should give this matter careful thought. 

The selection of an attorney is an important decision. Although some advertisements 

indicate that no fee shall be charged in the absence of recovery, clients may be liable 

for certain expenses. The law firm responsible for this ad is Morgan and Morgan. 

Offices: 2 Penn Center, Suite 900 John F. Kennedy Blvd., Philadelphia, 

PA. 19102 

91. The No Referral Disclaimer continued to include the false, misleading, deceptive 

and/or ambiguous statement that Defendants were “NOT A REFERRAL SERVICE” when, in fact, 

they were doing just that, referring all of the Prospective Clients to the Referral Law Firms. Id. at 

Bates Nos. R&A 12, 14, 16, 18, 21, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 37, 42, 45, 47, 50, 53, 56, 59, 62, 65, 

76, 79, 88, 90, 94, 96, 102, 104, 106, 108, 110, 114, 119, 129, 131, 133, 135-136, 138-139, 141, 

143, 145, 147, 149, 151, 153, 155, 157, 159, 161-163, 165-166, 168-170, 172, 174-176, 178, 180, 

182-184, 186-187, 189-190, 192-193, 195, 197, 199 and 201. 

92. Subsequent to the filing of Plaintiff’s original Complaint in this action, Defendants 

changed the language in its disclaimer to remove the false phrase “NOT A REFERRAL 

SERVICE.” 
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93. The new disclaimer (the “Co-Counsel Disclaimer”) now read as follows:   

Attorney Advertising 

Before making your choice of an attorney, you should give this matter careful 

thought. This election of an attorney is an important decision. Although some 

advertisements indicate that no fee shall be charged in the absence of recovery, 

clients may be liable for certain expenses. The law firm responsible for this ad 

is Morgan and Morgan and the attorney in this ad is licensed in FL. Cases may 

be referred to and handled by another law firm as co-counsel. 

 

Offices: 2 Penn Center, Suite 900 John F. Kennedy Blvd., 

Philadelphia, PA 19102 

Id. at Bates Nos. R&A 11, 20, 23, 36, 44, 49, 52, 58, 61, 64, 75, 78, 93, 118, 137, 140, 142, 144, 

146, 148, 150, 152, 154, 156, 158, 160, 164, 167, 171, 173, 177, 179, 181, 185, 188, 191, 194, 

196, 198, 200, 235, 243 and 244. 

94. Defendants’ modification of the No Referral Disclaimer with the Co-Counsel 

Disclaimer did not and does not cure the false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous impression 

created by Defendants’ extensive advertising campaign. 

95. This Co-Counsel Disclaimer is false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous 

because it is permissive and states that “Cases may be referred to and handled by another law firm 

as co-counsel” when it was Defendants’ intention to never handle such cases and, if any, then a de 

minimis, negligible or nominal number of clients, from or in the Philadelphia Market, and in all or 

nearly all cases to refer them to the Referral Law Firms. 

96. Additionally, this same Co-Counsel Disclaimer is further false, misleading, 

deceptive and/or ambiguous because it suggests that Morgan & Morgan would act as “co-counsel” 

with another firm which was not Defendants’ intent and is not what occurred. 

97. These False Advertisements also did not advise the Prospective Client that the 

attorney appearing therein are unlicensed to practice law in Pennsylvania and would not (and did 

not intend to) represent the Prospective Client with their personal injury claims in Pennsylvania. 

Case 2:17-cv-04250-MAK   Document 57   Filed 03/07/18   Page 18 of 33



   

19 

98. All of the individual Defendants conspired together to create, foster, promote and 

publicly display the False Advertisements in the Philadelphia Market. 

99. Specifically, Reuven Moskowitz (“Moskowitz”) was an active participant in 

Defendants’ false advertising scheme. 

100. Defendants have acknowledged in recent discovery that Defendants’ “television 

run lists and budgets” were “approved by John Morgan and Reuven Moskowitz, Morgan & 

Morgan’s Chief Operating Officer.” 

101. Moreover, in discovery, Plaintiff asked Morgan PA to “[s]tate the name, address, 

and title of the person/persons who was/were involved in implementing Defendants marketing 

campaign in the ‘Philadelphia Market.’” (See Exh. E at Int. #20). 

102. Defendants, through counsel, subsequently acknowledged that “Jennifer Weldon of 

Fat Free Media … implements [Morgan PA’s] television marketing campaign. She is provided 

direction by John Morgan and Reuven Moskowitz ….” (See Exh. F at 2). 

103. In addition, Defendants’ counsel acknowledged that “[s]ometime in 2017, Mr. 

Moskowitz began assisting Mr. Morgan in preparing some of the television scripts.” (Id. at 3). 

104. Mr. Moskowitz, John Morgan and Scott Weinstein are all directors of Morgan & 

Morgan Philadelphia Management, Inc., a Florida corporation, that is the manager of Morgan 

Philadelphia. Exhs. O & P.  

105. In sum, Defendants have admitted that Mr. Moskowitz had direct, personal 

involvement in directing, overseeing and implementing Defendants’ deceptive advertising 

scheme. 
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106. Similarly, based upon information and belief, Defendant Scott Weinstein is the 

managing partner of Morgan PA and approved and/or authorized the false advertising campaign 

for the Philadelphia Market. 

107. Accordingly, John Morgan, Ultima Morgan, Scott Weinstein and Reuven 

Moskowitz all actively, knowingly and intentionally participated in the creating, fostering, 

promoting and publicly displaying these False Advertisements in the Philadelphia Market. 

Results Of Maronick Consumer Survey 

108. For purposes of this litigation, Plaintiff engaged an expert to perform a consumer 

survey. 

109. Specifically, Plaintiff engaged the expert services of Thomas J. Maronick, DBA, 

JD, a consumer marketing survey expert (“Maronick”). 

110. Mr. Maronick conducted a consumer survey in January 2018 (the “Maronick 

Survey”) in order to test the message received by viewers of Defendants’ various television 

commercials. 

111. Mr. Maronick tabulated the consumer survey data and prepared a report that is 

attached as Exh. J. 

112. Mr. Maronick selected three (3) commercials to include in his survey (which are 

identified on Exh. I as Bates Nos. R&A 60, 74 and 77.4 

113. The results of the Maronick Survey demonstrate, in part and without limitation, 

that: 

 

                                                 
4 Each of these television commercials actually has three (3) different versions, with each one using one of the three 

(3) disclaimers, namely the Anapol disclaimer, the No Referral disclaimer and the Co-Counsel disclaimer. See Exh. I 

at Bates Nos. R&A 60-62, 74-76 and 77-79. 
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a. Defendants’ television advertisements are false and misleading in that a 

substantial number of the viewers from the Philadelphia Market were led 

to, and continue to, believe that the attorney in the advertisement would be 

involved in the handling of their personal injury claim; and  

 

b. Defendants’ television commercials are false and misleading in that a 

substantial number of the viewers from the Philadelphia Market were led 

to, and continue to, believe that their claim would be handled by a Morgan 

& Morgan lawyer working in Pennsylvania. 

 

114. Based on the Maronick Survey, Mr. Maronick concludes that the advertisements 

are false and materially misleading. 

115. Mr. Maronick also opined that the misleading messages in these commercials 

would have a “carry-over” effect on the other commercials and marketing strategies employed by 

Defendants as explained in the Maronick Report. 

116. Upon information and belief, neither John Morgan nor the other attorneys 

appearing in the television advertisements aired in the Philadelphia Market on behalf of 

Defendants since December 2015 actually speak or meet with the Prospective Clients. 

117. Upon information and belief, thousands of Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia 

Market have contacted Morgan PA for representation in their personal injury claims since 

Defendants began advertising in the Philadelphia Market in December 2015. 

Defendants’ Billboard Advertising 

118. Defendants also have a significant billboard campaign in the Philadelphia Market. 

119. Most of the billboards (the “Morgan Billboards”) feature John Morgan’s face 

prominently, and further utilize extensively the Morgan Trademarks. (Exh. K). 

120. The Morgan Billboards, by directing the Prospective Clients to the Morgan 

Website, confirm that the Morgan Billboards are for Morgan PA. 
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121. Moreover, the Morgan Billboards further advise the Prospective Clients that 

Morgan PA has “Offices Philadelphia.” 

122. But the Morgan Billboards are literally false because Morgan PA has denied that it 

has a Philadelphia office. 

123. The Morgan Billboards, by directing the Prospective Clients to Morgan Website 

and referencing Philadelphia Offices, are directing the Prospective Clients to those webpages that 

are specifically dedicated to an alleged Philadelphia office (the “Morgan Webpages”). (Exh. L). 

124. The Morgan Webpages contain similarly false, misleading, deceptive and/or 

ambiguous messages that Morgan PA intends to and/or has the capability of representing the 

personal injury claims of the Prospective Client. 

125. For example, the Morgan Webpages specifically state that “At Morgan & Morgan, 

our lawyers only charge if they favorably resolve your case. In these cases, they will collect a 

portion of the final settlement or judgment.” Id. 

126. The Morgan Webpages also assert: “When someone is injured due to another’s 

negligence, we help the victim recover monetary damages for losses that they otherwise 

wouldn’t have suffered.” Id. (emphasis supplied). 

127. That statement is false, misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous because it false 

advises the Prospective Client that Morgan PA will be representing them when it is the intention 

that Morgan PA will refer the personal injury claims on the Prospective Clients to the Referral 

Law Firms. 

128. The Morgan Webpages further indicate, “Our attorneys in our Philadelphia office 

handle cases in the following practice areas,” referring to various types personal injury claims, and 

identifying Morgan PA as “Personal Injury Lawyers in Philadelphia.” (Id.). 
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129. The Morgan Billboards use the face of John Morgan which is known by the 

Prospective Clients to be John Morgan because the Morgan Billboards direct the Prospective 

Clients to the Morgan Website which confirms that it is John Morgan who is featured in the 

Morgan Billboards. 

130. The use of John Morgan in the Morgan Billboards reinforces the false, misleading, 

deceptive and/or ambiguous message contained in the television commercials that John Morgan 

works in Philadelphia and that Morgan PA and John Morgan will be their attorneys. 

131. The Morgan Billboards do not advise the Prospective Clients that John Morgan is 

not licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania and cannot legally represent them in Pennsylvania. 

132. The Billboards do not advise the Prospective Clients that Defendants will refer their 

personal injury claims to a Referral Law Firm. 

133. Defendants also have targeted the Philadelphia Market with internet/online 

marketing. 

134. In addition, Defendants pay for online “keyword advertising” intended to reach 

Prospective Clients searching for personal injury lawyers in the Philadelphia Market. 

135. The Defendants’ online advertising, in conjunction with their false advertising 

scheme in the Philadelphia Market, is intended to mislead and/or deceive the Prospective Clients 

into believing that Defendants actively represent, handle and otherwise litigate personal injury 

matters on behalf of Prospective Clients with personal injury claims to be filed or venued in 

Pennsylvania state or federal courts. 
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136. Defendants, through Morgan PA, have purchased over $10 million dollars’ worth 

of False Advertising in the Philadelphia Market through August 2017. (Exh. M & N).5 

137. During the twelve-month period preceding August 2017, Defendants have 

purchased more money advertising in the Philadelphia Market than any other personal injury firm. 

138. Defendants have engaged in improper and/or illegal conduct by propagating false 

and misleading statements in their advertisements. 

139. Defendants advertising has deprived and continues to deprive Plaintiff, and other 

personal injury firms, of the opportunity to obtain Prospective Clients who are being deceived and 

misled into calling Defendants. 

140. Plaintiff is a law firm that handles almost exclusively personal injury related 

matters. 

141. Plaintiff has been advertising their legal services related to personal injury claims 

in the Philadelphia Market for over 15 years. 

142. Plaintiff and Defendants are in direct competition with each other as it relates to 

Prospective Clients who wish to pursue, or at a minimum, explore pursuing, personal injury related 

claims. 

143. Plaintiff and Defendants are in direct competition with each other as it relates 

advertising for their respective legal services for Prospective Clients pursuing personal injury 

related claims. 

144. Numerous Prospective Clients contact law firms and/or lawyers based on 

advertising. 

                                                 
5 Exh. M is an “exemplar” invoice from WPVI reflecting that Morgan PA is the purchaser of air time for its the 

television commercials, whereas Exh. N are invoices from Fat Free Media, Morgan’s PA media firm, which 

demonstrates that Morgan PA is Fat Free’s client and thus purchaser of air time for Morgan PA’s television 

commercials. 
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145. Plaintiff has obtained Prospective Clients through television advertising for over 15 

years in the Philadelphia, and the surrounding area. 

146. All attorneys who practice law at Plaintiff are licensed to practice law in 

Pennsylvania. 

147. As a result of Defendants’ False Advertisements, Plaintiff has lost the opportunity 

to represent numerous personal injury clients. 

148. As a result of Defendants’ False Advertisements, Plaintiff has experienced a decline 

in the number of new clients that have contacted Plaintiff for legal services. 

149. As a result of Defendants’ False Advertisements, Plaintiff will continue to lose the 

opportunity to represent future Prospective Clients with personal injury claims. 

150. Plaintiff also receives a significant portion of new clients through both current and 

former clients. 

151. As a result of Defendants’ False Advertisements, Plaintiff has and will continue to 

lose its ability to expand its client base. 

152. As a result of the Defendants’ False Advertisements, Plaintiff has suffered and will 

continue to suffer economic loss and loss of good will. 

153. Defendants have willfully and intentionally misrepresented the nature of their 

practice and their involvement with Prospective Clients with personal injury claims in an effort to 

deceive such Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market. 

154. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ False Advertisements, Plaintiff has 

suffered significant damages including, but not limited to: (1) actual damages to Plaintiff’s 

goodwill and brand; (2) actual damages for past lost profits Plaintiff would have made from 

potential clients that were confused by Defendants’ False Advertisements that included false, 
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misleading, deceptive and/or ambiguous statements; (3) actual damages for future lost profits 

Plaintiff would have made from clients who intended to hire Plaintiff; (4) actual damages for future 

lost profits Plaintiff would have made from future referrals of clients; (5) actual damages related 

to an inability to expand Plaintiff’s client base; (6) actual damages related to advertising expenses 

to correct Defendants’ false, misleading, deceptive and ambiguous advertisements; and (7) actual 

damages related to expense to repair the diminished value of Plaintiff’s own brand. 

Morgan Philadelphia Is A Sham Company 

155. Plaintiff maintains that Defendants are all directly responsible for implementing the 

dissemination of the False Advertisements. 

156.  Instead, while aware of their falsity, Defendants have asserted through the course 

of this litigation that Morgan Philadelphia is the real party that is responsible for the False 

Advertisements. 

157. At all times relevant hereto, as noted earlier, to the extent Morgan Philadelphia was 

operating a business and/or practicing law in the Philadelphia Market, Morgan Philadelphia was 

acting as the agent of Morgan PA. 

158. Morgan Philadelphia is also the alter ego of Morgan PA. 

159. Upon information and belief, the following facts demonstrate that Morgan 

Philadelphia was acting both as agent and alter ego of Morgan PA: 

a. Both entities share the same directors and officers (see Exhs. O & P);6 

b. Upon information and belief, Morgan Philadelphia has no employees, 

and/or any employees of Morgan Philadelphia are also employees of 

                                                 
6 Morgan Philadelphia is a Florida professional limited liability company that is managed by Morgan & Morgan 

Philadelphia Management, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Morgan Management”). Exh. O. In turn, Morgan 

Management has at least three (3) identified directors: (i) John Morgan; (ii) Scott Weinstein; and (iii) Reuven 

Moskowitz. Exh. P. 
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Morgan PA; 

c. Both companies possess and share the same marketing image; 

d. Both companies possess, share and use the same Morgan Trademarks and 

related logos; 

e. Both companies possess, share and use the same Morgan Website; 

f. Both companies possess, share and use the same Morgan Phone Number 

and other related business phone numbers; 

g. Both companies possess, share and use the same False Advertisements; 

h. Both companies comingle their contracts and business dealings, including 

the Referral Agreements between Morgan PA and the Referral Law Firms 

(Exh. H) wherein Morgan PA is the contracting party; 

i. Advertising invoices produced by Defendants and third parties demonstrate 

that Morgan PA purchased such advertisements (Exh. M); 

j. Morgan PA exercises control and provides instruction to Morgan 

Philadelphia; 

k. Morgan Philadelphia was and is grossly undercapitalized; 

l. Specifically, over 99% of Morgan Philadelphia’s capital has been spent on 

advertising purportedly in the Philadelphia Market; 

m. Morgan Philadelphia’s liability greatly exceeds its gross revenues; 

n. Morgan Philadelphia had zero payroll expense in 2016 and minimal payroll 

expense in 2017; and 

o. Morgan Philadelphia is not listed on the Morgan Entities’ corporate 

insurance policy. 
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160. Defendants have established and control Morgan Philadelphia for the purpose of 

committing false, deceptive and fraudulent activity in the Philadelphia Market as set forth herein.  

COUNT I 

 

VIOLATION OF THE LANHAM ACT 

 

(15 U.S.C. §§ 1051 et seq.) 

FALSE ADVERTISING 

 

(Against All Defendants) 

 

161. Plaintiff hereby incorporates the preceding paragraphs by reference as though same 

were fully set forth at length herein. 

162. Defendants’ advertisements included false, misleading, deceptive and ambiguous 

statements of fact regarding their services and were distributed in interstate commerce and in this 

District. These False Advertisements contain actual misstatements and/or misleading statements 

and/or failures to disclose.  

163. Defendants’ false statements actually deceive and/or have a tendency to deceive a 

substantial segment of Plaintiff’s Prospective Clients. The deceptions are material in that they 

concern the quality and/or characteristics of Defendants’ services and are likely to influence the 

decisions of Prospective Clients.  

164. Defendants’ False Advertisements lead the Prospective Clients to believe that the 

attorney appearing in the advertisement and/or commercial will be involved in the handling of their 

personal injury claim. 

165. Defendants’ False Advertisements lead the Prospective Client to believe that the law 

firm of Morgan PA will handle their claim. 
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166. The False Advertisements are misleading in that they do not properly advise that the 

Prospective Client’s personal injury claim will be referred to a Referral Law Firm. 

167. Defendants’ false, misleading deceptive and ambiguous advertising statements and 

omissions injure both Prospective Clients and Plaintiff. 

168. Many Prospective Clients would not have contacted Defendant if they knew the 

individual Defendants lived in Florida and are not licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania and are 

thus not capable, without explicit permission by the court, of providing legal services to the 

Prospective Clients. 

169. Defendants’ false, misleading, deceptive and ambiguous advertising statements and 

omissions violate Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) 

170. Defendants’ false, misleading, deceptive and ambiguous statements and omissions 

are likely to continue to injure Plaintiff by causing a decline in revenue, loss of good will, and other 

harm in an amount to be determined at trial, as a result of Defendants’ false and misleading statements.  

171. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiff is further entitled to recover from 

Defendants the damages sustained by Plaintiff as a result of Defendants’ acts in violation of 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a). Plaintiff is at present unable to ascertain the full extent of monetary damages 

Plaintiff has sustained by reason of Defendants’ False Advertisements and wrongful conduct.  

172. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiff is further entitled to recover from 

Defendants the gains, profits and advantages that Defendants obtained as a result of Defendants’ 

wrongful conduct in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

173. Plaintiff is at present unable to ascertain the full extent of the gains, profits and 

advantages Defendants have obtained by reason of Defendants’ wrongful conduct.  
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174. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117, Plaintiff is further entitled to recover from 

Defendants the costs of this action. 

175. Moreover, Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis, alleges, that 

Defendants’ conduct was undertaken willfully and with the intention of causing confusion, mistake 

or deception in the area of legal services to Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market.  

COUNT II 

PENNSYLVANIA COMMON LAW 

 

UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION 

 

(Against All Defendants) 

 

176. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference herein the allegations contained in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Second Amended Complaint as though same were fully set forth at 

length herein. 

177. Defendants, as set forth above, engaged in wrongful conduct, which is contrary to 

honest industrial and commercial practice and, thus, has engaged in unfair methods of competition, 

in violation of the common law of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

178. Defendants’ wrongful conduct and acts were calculated to procure an unfair 

competitive advantage against Plaintiff through false, misleading, deceptive and ambiguous 

advertising. 

[remainder of this page left intentionally blank] 

[signature page follows] 
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DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

Based upon the foregoing allegations, Plaintiff Rosenbaum & Associates, P.C., requests 

the following relief: 

a. A declaration that Defendants have violated section 

43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C Sec. 1125(a) FALSE 

ADVERTISING; 

 

b. A permanent enjoinment of Defendants, their agents, 

servants, directors, principals, officers, employees, successors, 

assigns, and all those acting under their control or the control of their 

subsidiaries, affiliates or divisions and/or on their behalf and/or in 

concert, from disseminating or a causing to be disseminated or 

published any commercial, advertisement, or other promotional 

material containing any of the claims challenged in this Second 

Amended Complaint; 

 

c. An Order compelling Defendants to stop all 

advertising and promotion in the Philadelphia Market until the 

corrective advertising has been fully implemented; 

 

d. An Order compelling Defendants to pay for all 

necessary costs associated with the creation, development, 

implementation, and purchase of corrective advertising to reeducate 

the Prospective Clients in the Philadelphia Market; 

 

e. An Order entering a judgment awarding Plaintiff all 

damages it is entitled pursuant to common law and 15 U.S.C. § 

1117, as a result of Defendants’ acts in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a) and Pennsylvania law; 

 

f. An Order compelling Defendants to account for and 

pay to Plaintiff any and all gross revenues derived by the Defendants 

from the publication of the False Advertisements in the Philadelphia 

Market; 

 

g. An Order awarding monetary damages sustained by 

Plaintiff to include any and all economic loss caused by Defendants’ 

violation of the Lanham Act and pursuant to Pennsylvania common 

law; 

 

h. An Order establishing a constructive trust to account 

for and hold all future revenues generated from Defendants’ 

unlawful conduct; 
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i. An Order entering judgment, because of the willful 

and intentional nature of Defendants’ conduct, awarding Plaintiff its 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, treble, punitive and/or exemplary 

damages, and the costs of this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1117(a), Pennsylvania law, and this Court’s equitable discretion; 

and 

 

j. An Order granting such other and further relief as 

this Court shall deem just and proper.     
   

Respectfully submitted, 

 

/s/ Maurice R. Mitts     

MAURICE R. MITTS, ESQ. 

PA I.D. # 50297 

GERARD M. MCCABE, ESQ. 

PA I.D. # 66564 

MITTS LAW, LLC 

1822 Spruce Street 

Philadelphia, PA 19103 

(215) 866-0110 / (215) 866-0111 fax 

mmitts@mittslaw.com 

gmccabe@mittslaw.com 

/s/ Ryan M. Cohen     

RYAN M. COHEN, ESQ. 

PA I.D. # 91579 

JEFFREY P. CURRY, ESQ. 

PA I.D. # 90246 

ROSENBAUM & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

1818 Market Street, Suite 3200 

Philadelphia, PA 19103 

(215) 569-0200 

rmc.esquire@gmail.com 

rosenbaumfederal@verizon.net 

 

 ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

 ROSENBAUM & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

 

Date: March 6, 2018 
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I, Gerard M. McCabe, hereby certify that on the date noted below, I caused to be served a 

true and correct copy of the foregoing, Second Amended Complaint, upon the following counsel 

of record for Defendants via email: 

  

Gaetan J. Alfano, Esquire 

Eric G. Soller, Esquire 

Leslie A. Mariotti, Esquire  

Pietragallo Gordon Alfano Bosick & Raspanti, LLP  

1818 Market Street, Suite 3402  

Philadelphia, PA 19103 

 

Attorneys for Defendants 

 

Service Upon All New Parties By Original Process 

 

       /s/ Gerard M. McCabe   

       Gerard M. McCabe, Esquire 

 

Dated:  March 6, 2018 
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